UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-2-2008

Citibank (South Dakota), N.A. v. Carroll Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35053

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case is a collection action filed by Citibank (South Dakota), N.A., Plaintiff -Respondent (hereinafter "Citibank"). Miriam G. Carroll, Defendant – Appellant (hereinafter "Carroll") challenged the standing of Citibank as not a real party in interest. Carroll demanded a jury trial, which was ignored by the trial court.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This case was originally filed in Lewis County on October 6, 2005 (R. Vol. I, p. 1-3) when Carroll resides in Idaho County. Carroll challenged the venue of the court. Citibank filed an exparte motion to transfer the case to Idaho County. The motion was granted on February 22, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p. 4), but Carroll was not notified of the transfer. On March 16, 2006 Citibank obtained a default judgment, (R. Vol. I, p. 5-8) which was challenged by Carroll and subsequently set aside on April 20, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p. 9).

Carroll answered the complaint on April 26, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p. 10-14). On June 15, 2006 Citibank amended its complaint (R. Vol. I, p, 17). Carroll filed a Motion to Compel Discovery, which was heard June 23, 2006 with the court issuing its order compelling discovery on June 29, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p. 18-19). Citibank again amended its complaint on July 10, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p. 20-22). Carroll amended her answer to complaint on August 15, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p. 23-29). Carroll filed a Demand for Jury Trial six days later on August 21, 2006 (R. Vol. I, p. 244, L. 3 – Register of Actions).

Citibank made a change of counsel from the Attorney firm of Wilson, McColl & Rasmussen to Hawley, Troxell, Ennis & Hawley, LLP. A Motion for Summary

Judgment was filed by Citibank on January 19, 2007 (R. Vol. III, p. 682-83), which Carroll opposed, based on Citibank's lack of standing.

The trial court vacated the trial date, continued summary judgment and granted limited discovery on April 5, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 71-73). Carroll filed a Motion for Show Cause Hearing on June 29, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 74-77), and another Motion to Compel Discovery on August 8, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 99-104). Citibank's Supplemental Reply Brief in Support of Summary Judgment was filed on July 17, 2007 (R. Vol. VI, p. 1377-1394). Carroll's Rebuttal to Citibank's Reply Brief in Support of Summary Judgment was filed on October 4, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 105-148). Carroll filed her Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on November 23, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 159-65). Citibank's Motion for Summary Judgment was granted on December 10, 2007 in the court's Memorandum Decision and Order (R. Vol. I, p. 186-194).

Carroll filed a Motion for Reconsideration on December 24, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 195-203), based on Rule 17(a), where Citibank was not a real party in interest. Carroll's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on January 24, 2008 (R. Vol. I, p. 229). Carroll timely filed a Notice of Appeal on March 7, 2008 (R. Vol. I, p. 236-241).

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Citibank filed the collection action against Carroll after it had sold the alleged debt to a third party, the Citibank Credit Card Master Trust I (hereinafter "the Master Trust"), with Bankers Trust Company, and subsequently Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas; Trustee of the Master Trust, and assigned all rights, title and

interest to the Master Trust. The Master Trust is not listed in the pleadings. Citibank has not filed any documents showing that it has ownership, or an assignment, of the alleged debt. Citibank claims to have standing as Servicer of the Master Trust, but Citibank also filed an affidavit, dated July 22, 2005 before the present action was filed, stating that another party, Citicorp Credit Services was collecting the alleged debt under contract with Citibank (South Dakota), N.A. (R. Vol. I, p. 204, L. 11-12). Citicorp Credit Services is also not listed in the pleadings.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

ISSUE NO.1

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

Carroll filed a Demand for Jury Trial. Citibank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Carroll challenged the standing of Citibank and provided evidence that Citibank was not a real party in interest, constituting a genuine dispute of a material fact. The trial court weighed the evidence and granted Summary Judgment in favor of Citibank when it was for the jury to decide the weight of the evidence.

ISSUE NO. 2

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION BASED ON THE PLAINTIFF NOT BEING A REAL PARTY IN INTEREST?

Citibank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Carroll.challenged Citibank's standing, and in reconsideration, challenged Citibank as not being a real party in interest. Carroll provided evidence that Citibank had sold all rights, title and interest in the alleged

debt to the Master Trust, and as a result of that assignment, was not a real party in interest under Rule 17(a) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure.

ISSUE NO. 3

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF HAD STANDING WITHOUT THE PLAINTIFF PROVIDING ANY CLAIM OR PROOF OF DAMAGES?

Citibank claimed a Breach of Contract cause of action but failed to claim or prove any damages. Carroll challenged Citibank as having sold all rights, title and interest in the alleged debt, was paid for the alleged debt, and could not demonstrate any damages as a result.

ARGUMENT I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

A. INTRODUCTION

This case is a collection action filed by Citibank (South Dakota), N.A. Citibank filed suit on October 6, 2005 in Lewis County. The case was subsequently transferred to Idaho County. On July 5, 2006 Citibank amended its complaint. Carroll subsequently amended her answer to complaint with counterclaims on August 15, 2006, and filed a Demand for Jury Trial six (6) days later on August 21, 2006. Citibank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 19, 2007. The trial court granted Citibank's Motion for Summary Judgment on December 10, 2007. Carroll filed a Motion for Reconsideration on December 24, 2007, based on Rule 17(a),

where Citibank was not a real party in interest. Carroll's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on January 24, 2008. Carroll timely filed a Notice of Appeal on March 7, 2008. (R. Vol. I, p. 236)

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

On a motion for summary judgment we will review "the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, to determine whether there is a genuine issue as to any material fact and whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c); *Ray v. Nampa School Dist. No. 131*, 120 Idaho 117, 814 P.2d 17 (1991).

Where, as here, a jury has been requested, the non-moving party also is entitled to the benefit of every reasonable inference that can be drawn from the evidentiary facts. *See Anderson v. Ethington*, 103 Idaho 658, 660, 651 P.2d 923, 925 (1982).

C. THERE WAS A GENUINE DISPUTE OVER A MATERIAL FACT.

On a motion for summary judgment there must be no dispute over the material facts of the case and the party moving for summary judgment must be entitled to the judgment as a matter of law. In the present case, Carroll challenged Citibank's standing and right to be in court under Rule 17(a) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. Evidence was presented from Citibank's Prospectus dated October, 29, 2007 (R. Vol. I, p. 180, L. 15-27), and from the contract between Citibank and the Master Trust; the Pooling and Servicing Agreement dated the 29th day of May 1991, Amended and Restated as of October 5, 2001 (R. Vol. I, p. 178, L. 27-38) stating that Citibank had sold the alleged debt to a third party, the Citibank Credit Card Master

Trust I.

Carroll argued that under Idaho case law, once an assignment has been made, the assigning party is no longer a real party in interest. In <u>McCluskey v. Galland</u>, 95 Idaho 472, 522 P.2d 289 (1973) the court stated,

We therefore hold that under Rule 17(a), I.R.C.P., as under the preceding Sections 5-301 and 5-302, Idaho Code, an assignee of a valid assignment is the real party in interest to bring an action, and that the assignor is not the real party in interest and has no standing to prosecute an action on the chose in action."

This case is very close to <u>McCluskey</u> in that an open account or notes payable were

involved. In McCluskey, the court also held,

"Where open account and notes payable to individual were assigned to corporation prior to commencement of action to recover on the notes and the open account, the individual assignor was not a real party in interest and had no standing to prosecute an action to recover on the notes and open account and was not entitled to recover judgment thereon. Rules of Civil Procedure, rule 17(a); I.C. §§ 5-301, 5-302, 27-104."

The assignment to the Master Trust was an assignment of "all its right, title and interest in, to and under the Receivables" (the alleged debt or obligation) pursuant to Section 2.01 of the Pooling and Servicing Agreement (R. Vol. I. p. 178, L. 27-38), making Bankers Trust Company, and subsequently Deutsche Bank Trust Company

Americas; Trustee of the Master Trust, the real party in interest; not Citibank.

In <u>Tolmie Farms v. J.R. Simplot Co.</u>, 124 Idaho 613, 862 P.2d 305 (1992), rule

17(a) I.R.C.P. was before the court in regards to a motion for summary judgment.

The court stated,

Courts must take extreme care not to take *genuine* issues of fact from the jury. See Wilson v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 838 F.2d 286, 289 (8th Cir.1988); see also Lowry v. Ireland Bank, 116 Idaho 708, 779 P.2d 22 (Ct.App.1989) (a determination of credibility should not be made on summary judgment if credibility can be tested in court before the trier of fact). (Emphasis in original). In <u>Tolmie</u>, there was conflicting evidence as to who was actually the real party in

interest. The court stated,

"Although Simplot complains of the dearth of any official documentation to support the alleged assignment of rights to the Tolmies, such argument goes to the weight of the evidence and presents a genuine question of fact for the jury."

In this case there is no dearth of documentation. Here the Pooling and Servicing

Agreement clearly states (R. Vol. IV, p. 937, L. 27-38),

"Section 2.01. <u>Conveyance of Receivables</u>. By execution of this agreement, each of the Sellers does hereby sell, transfer, assign, set over and otherwise convey to the Trustee, on behalf of the Trust, for the benefit of the Certificateholders, all its right, title and interest in, to and under the Receivables existing at the close of business on the Trust Cut-Off date, in the case of Receivables arising in the Initial Accounts, and on each Additional Cut-Off Date, in the case of Receivables arising in the Additional Accounts, and in each case thereafter created from time to time until the termination of the Trust, all monies due or to become due and all amounts received with respect thereto and all proceeds (including "proceeds" as defined in the UCC) thereof. Such property, together with all monies on deposit in the Collection Account, the Series Accounts, any Series Enhancement and the right to receive certain Interchange attributed to cardholder charges for merchandise and services in the Accounts shall constitute the assets of the Trust (the "Trust Assets").

"Sellers" is defined in the Pooling and Servicing Agreement: ""Sellers" shall

mean Citibank (Nevada), Citibank (South Dakota) and any additional Seller." (R.

Vol. IV. P. 933, L. 5). As in <u>Tolmie</u>, the real party in interest in this case is a genuine issue of material fact.

D. WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE WAS FOR THE JURY TO DECIDE

Because Carroll demanded a jury trial (R. Vol. I, p. 244, L. 2, Register of Actions,

entry dated 8/21/2006, Demand for Jury Trial), the weight of the evidence presented

was for the jury to decide, not the trial court judge. The trial court recognized

Carroll's demand for a jury trial in its Scheduling Order dated September, 15, 2006,

specifically, "1. The jury trial shall commence on April 16, 2007 at 8:30 a.m. and will continue each day until 1:30 p.m. with two 15 minute breaks." (R. Vol. I, p. 40, L. 14-5).

In <u>Riggs v. Colis</u>, 107 Idaho 1028, 695 P.2d 413 (App. 1985) the Court of Appeals of Idaho stated,

"[1-3] Summary judgment is properly granted, under I.R.C.P. 56(c), when the pleadings, affidavits, depositions and admissions on file show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A motion for summary judgment is granted when, on the basis of evidence before the court, a directed verdict would be warranted or when reasonable men could not disagree as to the facts. Petricevich v. Salmon River Canal Company, 92 Idaho 865, 452 P.2d 362 (1969). In considering such evidence, it is well recognized that the facts are to be liberally construed in favor of the party opposing the motion and he is given the benefit of all favorable inferences which might be reasonably drawn from the evidence. Huvck v. Hecla Mining Company, 101 Idaho 299, 612 P.2d 142 (1980). Further, the Idaho Supreme Court has held that even though there are no genuine issues of material facts between the parties a motion for summary judgment must be denied, when the case is to be tried to a jury, if the evidence is such that conflicting inferences can be drawn therefrom and if reasonable men might reach different conclusions. Riverside Development Company v. Ritchie, 103 Idaho 515, 650 P.2d 657 (1982).

In both the original complaint (R. Vol. I, p. 2, L. 5-7) and in the amended

complaint (R. Vol. I, p. 21, L. 2-4), Citibank claimed in Count III, "That the Plaintiff is the owner of an account obligation or debt receivable originally owed by the Defendant to Citi Cards, account No. xxxx-xxxx-2596, which principal account balance currently totals \$25,334.91" (amount from amended complaint). The claim of ownership is a material fact in this case and the evidence that Citibank sold the alleged debt receivables and/or obligation and assigned all right, title and interest to a third party is conflicting to the point where different inferences could be drawn and where reasonable men could reach different conclusions. Summary Judgment should

have been denied, as the weight of the conflicting evidence was for the jury to decide,

not the trial court judge.

In <u>Altman v. Arndt</u>, 109 Idaho 218, 706 P.2d 107 (1985), the Court of Appeals of Idaho held,

"[3,4] It is well settled that, on summary judgment, the district court is not permitted to weigh the evidence or to resolve controverted factual issues. *American Land Title Co. v. Isaak*, 105 Idaho 600, 671 P.2d 1063 (1983). Further, if the pleadings, admissions, depositions and affidavits raise any question of credibility of witnesses or weight of the evidence, the motion for summary judgment should be denied. *Merrill v. Duffy Reed Construction Co.*, 82 Idaho 410, 353 P.2d 657 (1960). The parties in this case did not stipulate that the case be decided upon a weighing of the testimony, free from the constraints attendant to motions for summary judgments.

Applying these principles to the instant case, we hold the district court erred in granting summary judgment."

The standing argument presented by Carroll stands as a genuine issue of a material fact (ownership of the alleged debt), and summary judgment should have been denied on that basis alone. For the trial court to weigh the evidence and make a decision thereof when a jury trial was requested, and to grant summary judgment when there was a clear and genuine issue over a material fact, is reversible error.

ARGUMÉNT II.

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION BASED ON THE PLAINTIFF NOT BEING A REAL PARTY IN INTEREST?

A. INTRODUCTION

Citibank filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Carroll challenged Citibank's standing, and in reconsideration, challenged Citibank as not being a real party in interest.

Carroll provided evidence from the Pooling and Servicing Agreement that Citibank had sold all rights, title and interest in the alleged debt to a third party, the Citibank Credit Card Master Trust I, and as a result of that assignment, was not a real party in interest under Rule 17(a) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure.

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for a judgment based on a Motion for Summary Judgment is trial de novo. Appellate court exercises free review and is not bound by findings of the district court but is free to draw its own conclusions from the evidence presented. *Beard v. George*, 135 Idaho 685, 23 P.3d 147 (2001). Supreme court exercises free review over the district court's conclusions of law; as a result, supreme court may substitute its view for that of the district court on a legal issue. *Idaho Power Co., v. Cogeneration, Inc.*, 134 Idaho 738, 9 P.3d 1204 (2000).

C. REAL PARTY IN INTEREST

Rule 17(a) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure states, "Every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." Carroll argued that under Idaho case law, once an assignment has been made, the assigning party is no longer a real party in interest. In <u>McCluskey v. Galland</u>, 95 Idaho 472, 522 P.2d 289 (1973) the court stated,

We therefore hold that under Rule 17(a), I.R.C.P., as under the preceding Sections 5-301 and 5-302, Idaho Code, an assignee of a valid assignment is the real party in interest to bring an action, and that the assignor is not the real party in interest and has no standing to prosecute an action on the chose in action."

This case is very close to <u>McCluskey</u> in that an open account or notes payable were

involved. In McCluskey, the court also held,

"Where open account and notes payable to individual were assigned to corporation prior to commencement of action to recover on the notes and the open account, the individual assignor was not a real party in interest and had no standing to prosecute an action to recover on the notes and open account and was not entitled to recover judgment thereon. Rules of Civil Procedure, rule 17(a); I.C. §§ 5-301, 5-302, 27-104."

The assignment to the Master Trust was an assignment of "all its right, title and interest

in, to and under the Receivables" (the alleged debt or obligation) (R. Vol. I. p. 178, L. 27-

38), making Bankers Trust Company, and subsequently Deutsche Bank Trust Company

Americas; Trustee of the Master Trust, the real party in interest; not Citibank. The

Pooling and Servicing Agreement states (R. Vol. IV, p. 937, L. 27-38),

"Section 2.01. <u>Conveyance of Receivables</u>. By execution of this agreement, *each* of the Sellers does hereby sell, transfer, assign, set over and otherwise convey to the Trustee, on behalf of the Trust, for the benefit of the Certificateholders, all its right, title and interest in, to and under the Receivables existing at the close of business on the Trust Cut-Off date, in the case of Receivables arising in the Initial Accounts, and on each Additional Cut-Off Date, in the case of Receivables arising in the Initial amounts received with respect thereto and all proceeds (including "proceeds" as defined in the UCC) thereof. Such property, together with all monies on deposit in the Collection Account, the Series Accounts, any Series Enhancement and the right to receive certain Interchange attributed to cardholder charges for merchandise and services in the Accounts shall constitute the assets of the Trust (the "Trust Assets"). (Emphasis added).

"Sellers" is defined in the Pooling and Servicing Agreement: ""Sellers" shall mean

Citibank (Nevada), Citibank (South Dakota) and any additional Seller." (R. Vol. IV.

P. 933, L. 5).

Citibank argues that they sold the Receivables but retained the account, and thus

still own the alleged debt. The trial court based its decision, dated December 10,

2007 on this argument, stating, "Citibank has standing to sue because it still owns Ms.

Carroll's credit card account, even though the receivables from this account have

been sold to the Master Trust." (R. Vol. I, p. 193, L. 14-15). But is the trial court's decision based on substantial and competent evidence?

Citibank points out that the Prospectus states, "Citibank (South Dakota) is the

owner of all of the credit card accounts designated to the master trust." (R. Vol. IV, p.

867, L. 26-7). Citibank may designate an account to the master trust while it still

owns the account. But does Citibank still own the account once the sale and transfer

to the Master Trust has taken place? The Pooling and Servicing Agreement is more

specific. Under the definition of "Eligible Account" (R. Vol. IV, p. 922, L. 28-32 and

p. 923, L.1-19),

"<u>Eligible Account</u>" shall mean a revolving credit card account owned by Citibank (South Dakota), in the case of the Initial Accounts, or Citibank (South Dakota) or any Additional Seller or other Account Owner, in the case of Additional Accounts which, as of the Trust Cut-Off Date with respect to an Initial Account or as of the Additional Cut-Off Date with respect to an Additional Account:

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