# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-9-2008

## Citibank (South Dakota), N.A. v. Carroll Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35053

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard Of Review.

In an appeal from an order granting summary judgment, "this Court's standard of review is the same as the standard used by the district court in passing upon a motion for summary judgment." *Brewer v. Washington RSA No. 8 Ltd. Partnership*, 184 P. 3d 860, 863 (2008) (citing

The District Court also correctly found that Citibank, as a national bank, is a "regulated lender" for purposes of the ICCA and, therefore, exempt from compliance with the ICCA. R Vol. 1, p. 191. Carroll does not challenge this holding on appeal.

Kolln v. Saint Luke's Regl. Med. Ctr., 130 Idaho 323, 327, 940 P.2d 1142, 1146 (1997)). "Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, and discovery documents on file with the court, read in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, demonstrate no material issue of fact such that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Brewer, 184 P. 3d at 863 (citing I.R.C.P. 56(c)). "In making this determination, all allegations of fact in the record, and all reasonable inferences from the record are construed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." City of Kellogg v. Mission Mountain Interests Ltd., 135 Idaho 239, 243, 16 P.3d 915, 919 (2000).

However, the party responding to a summary judgment motion, while not required to present evidence on every element of his or her claim, "must establish a genuine issue of material fact regarding the element or elements challenged by the moving party." *Primary Health Network, Inc. v. State, Dep't of Admin.*, 137 Idaho 663, 666, 52 P.3d 307, 310 (2002). The nonmoving party must submit more than just conclusory assertions that an issue of material fact exists to withstand summary judgment. *Id.* A mere scintilla of evidence or only slight doubt as to the facts is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact for the purposes of summary judgment. *Jenkins v. Boise Cascade Corp.*, 141 Idaho 233, 108 P.3d 380, 385 (2005). The party opposing the motion may not merely rest on the allegations contained in the pleadings; rather, evidence by way of affidavit or deposition must be produced to contradict the assertions of the moving party. I.R.C.P. 56(e); *Ambrose By and Through Ambrose v. Buhl Joint School Dist. No. 412*, 126 Idaho 581, 887 P.2d 1088, 1091 (Ct. App. 1995). Raising the slightest doubt as to the facts is insufficient - - a genuine issue of material fact must be presented. *Id.* If the

evidence reveals no genuine issue as to any material fact, "then all that remains is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review." *Yoakum v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co.*, 129 Idaho 171, 175, 923 P.2d 416, 420 (1996).

The decision to grant or deny a motion for reconsideration is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Jordan v. Beeks*, 135 Idaho 586, 592, 21 P.3d 908, 914 (2001). Abuse of discretion is determined by a three part test which asks whether the district court "(1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion;(2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) reached its decision by an exercise of reason." *Sun Valley Potato Growers, Inc. v. Texas Refinery Corp.*, 139 Idaho 761, 765, 86 P.3d 475, 479 (2004).

- B. It Is Undisputed That Citibank Does, And Always Has, Owned The Account; Therefore, Citibank Has Standing And Is The Real Party In Interest For Purposes Of Collecting The Debt Owed By Carroll On The Account.
  - 1. The Undisputed Evidence Establishes That Citibank Owns The Account.

It is well-settled that, to maintain an action, a party must have standing and, to have standing, a plaintiff must demonstrate "an injury in fact and a substantial likelihood that the judicial relief requested will prevent or redress the claimed injury." *Bowles v. Pro Indiviso, Inc.*, 132 Idaho 371, 375, 973 P. 3d 142, 146 (1999). Put differently, the plaintiff "must allege such a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy as to assure the concrete adversariness which sharpens the presentation upon which the court so depends." *Id.* (citing *Miles v. Idaho Power Co.*, 116 Idaho 635, 641, 778 P.2d 757, 763 (1989)); *see also* I.R.C.P 17(a) ("Every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest.").

Here, the undisputed evidence establishes that Citibank is and always has been the owner of the Account. The pertinent facts have, and continue to be, straightforward and simple:

(1) Carroll entered into a credit card agreement with Citibank; (2) Carroll agreed to pay for all transactions made on the Account; (3) Carroll used, and incurred charges, on the Account; and

(4) Carroll failed to pay the Account. There is simply no evidence that Citibank sold the Account. Rather, the Ryning Affidavit (which is not disputed) expressly confirms that "Citibank has been the owner of the Account since the inception of the Account and remains so today."

R Vol. 3, p. 576 (¶8).

Critically, Carroll fails to identify any evidence or fact demonstrating that Citibank ever sold Carroll's Account to another entity. Nor does she cite any evidence showing that Citibank ever assigned to another entity Carroll's obligation (under her credit card agreement) to repay Citibank for the debt she incurred on her Account. Instead, Carroll strings together cherry-picked excerpts from the various documents produced by Citibank to argue that Citibank should be deemed to have sold the Account (even though it did not) based on the asset securitization process used for Citibank's credit card receivables. Not only is Carroll's skewed interpretation of securitization inaccurate (as discussed below), but she has not, and cannot, raise a triable issue of fact regarding Citibank's undisputed ownership of the Account. The only truth that is clear from this appeal is that Carroll will go to any and all lengths to avoid paying her undisputed credit card debt.

#### a. Citibank's Securitization Process.

Securitization<sup>3</sup> is a process by which national banks, like Citibank, convert credit card receivables into capital. *See In re Spiegel, Inc. Securities Litigation*, 382 F. Supp. 2d 989, 1001 (N.D. Ill. 2004) (describing generally the asset/credit card receivables securitization process). The documents relied upon by both parties before the District Court confirm that throughout the securitization process, Citibank retains complete ownership of the credit card accounts involved.<sup>4</sup> The securitization documents describe the critical aspects of Citibank's securitization process as follows:

The process begins by Citibank assigning an interest in certain of its credit card receivables<sup>5</sup> to an entity known as the Master Trust. R Vol. 5, p. 1155:1-6 (stating that Citibank "established the master trust" on May 29, 1991), p. 1155:7-11 (stating that Citibank sponsors "programs of securitization of credit card receivables" through the "establishment of

Asset securitization is the "structured process whereby interests in loans, and other receivables are packaged, underwritten, and sold in the form of 'asset-backed' securities." R Vol. 6, p. 1399 (OCC Comptroller's Handbook, "Asset Securitization", at 2), p. 1442 (OCC Comptroller's Handbook, "Credit Card Lending", at 52 ("Securitization is the pooling of assets with similar characteristics into a standard format for sale to investors.")).

The documents primarily consist of the Citibank Credit Card Master Trust I Pooling and Servicing Agreement (the "Pooling Agreement") (R Vol. 4, pp. 911-1004), and the February 5, 2007 Prospectus and the March 14, 2007 Prospectus Supplement, both of which were prepared by Citibank. R Vol. 5, p. 1041, fn.1.

It should be noted that receivables relating to accounts that have been charged off are not part of the Master Trust. R Vol. 5, p. 1193 (Prospectus, Annex I, p. AI-4). "When accounts are charged off, they are written off as losses in accordance with the credit card guidelines, and the related receivables are removed from the Master Trust." *Id.* Carroll's Account was charged off prior to Citibank suing to collect the Account.

securitization vehicles such as . . . the master trust"). Importantly, while the credit card receivables are transferred to the Master Trust, "Citibank (South Dakota) is the owner of all of the credit card accounts designated to the master trust." R Vol. 5, p. 1156:28-29; see also R Vol. 5, p. 1075:28-30 (noting that, despite the sale of the receivables to the Master Trust, Citibank continues to "own the accounts themselves"). Indeed, the Pooling Agreement clearly states that the transfer of the receivables to the Master Trust does not transfer or otherwise affect the ownership of the underlying credit card accounts:

The [conveyance of receivables] does not constitute and is not intended to result in the creation or assumption by the Trust, the Trustee, any Investor Certificateholder ... of any obligation of the Servicer, Citibank (South Dakota), Citibank (Nevada), any Additional Seller, any other Account Owner or any other Person in connection with the Accounts or the Receivables or under any agreement or instrument relating thereto, including any obligation to Obligors [i.e., accountholders].

R Vol. 4, pp. 937-36 (Pooling Agreement, § 2.01, under the heading, "Conveyance of Receivables").

Furthermore, it is undisputed that Citibank retains "the right to determine the fees, periodic finance charges . . . and other charges that will apply to the credit card accounts."

R Vol. 5, p. 1075:30-32; see also R Vol. 4, pp. 944-45 (Pooling Agreement, § 2.08(b), under heading "Credit Card Agreements and Guidelines") (stating that Citibank "may change the terms and provisions of the Credit Card Agreements or the Credit Card Guidelines in any respect (including the calculation of the amount or the timing of charge-offs and the Periodic Rate Finance Charges to be assessed thereon") subject to limited conditions). Moreover, Citibank

retains the exclusive right of establishing the "credit and risk criteria for the origination and acquisition of credit card accounts owned by it, including the accounts in the master trust." R Vol. 5, p. 1155:19-20.

Subsequently, the Master Trust issues a "collateral certificate", which is an investor certificate representing an undivided interest in the assets of the Master Trust (primarily, the credit card receivables), to an entity known as the Issuance Trust. R Vol. 5, p. 1113:17-18 (describing the "collateral certificate"). The Issuance Trust sells notes to third party investors (backed by the collateral certificate), and the "issuance trust will pay the proceeds from the sale of a class of notes" to Citibank. R Vol. 5, p. 1089 (under the heading "USE OF PROCEEDS"). In exchange, the Issuance Trust (through Citibank as manager of the Issuance Trust) pays investors principal and/or interest on such notes from the amounts received by the Issuance Trust under the collateral certificate. R Vol. 5, p. 1072. The Master Trust exists for the sole benefit of the certificate holders (R Vol. 5, p. 1297 (Pooling Agreement § 2.02, p. 22)), and the primary certificate holder in the Master Trust is the Issuance Trust. R Vol. 5, p. 1113 (noting that the Issuance Trust is the "holder of the collateral certificate"). Citibank, as the sole owner and

It is important to note that the undisputed evidence establishes that Citibank is the primary beneficiary of, and exerts direct control over, the Issuance Trust. R Vol. 5, pp. 1056-57 (under the heading "Manager of the Issuance Trust" stating that Citibank "is the manager of the issuance trust, and is responsible for making determinations with respect to the issuance trust and allocating funds received by the issuance trust."); p. 1088 (stating that "[a]s manager of the issuance trust, [Citibank] will generally direct the actions to be taken by the issuance trust."); p. 1089 (under the heading "The Owner" stating that Citibank "is the sole owner of the beneficial interests in the issuance trust.").

manager of the Issuance Trust, is, therefore, the primary beneficiary of the Master Trust. R Vol. 5, pp. 1043-45 (discussing Citibank's securitization process).

#### b. Citibank Is The Owner Of The Account.

Based upon the foregoing, and the undisputed evidence in the record, notwithstanding the transfer of its credit card receivables to the Master Trust, Citibank continues to own Carroll's Account, including prior to, and at the time of, filing the underlying collection case. The District Court correctly recognized this important factor in ruling that Citibank has standing to maintain the underlying collection action. The District Court stated:

Nothing in the evidence suggests that Citibank transferred to the Master Trust anything more than the receivables on Ms. Carroll's account.[] To the contrary, Citibank Credit Card Trust's Prospectus specifically provides that '[t]he master trust owns the credit card receivables generated in designed credit card accounts, but [Citibank] will continue to own the accounts themselves.' [Citation omitted].

The transfer of the accounts is not definitionally included in the transfer of the receivables as argued by Ms. Carroll. The receivables are separate from the account, and one can be transferred without the other. The record reflects that Ms. Carroll's account was retained by Citibank. As owner of the account, Citibank has standing to collect the debt owed on the account. It is of no moment that Citibank contractually obliged itself to transfer the money it collects on its accounts to the Master Trust. Citibank's obligation to the Master Trust to transfer the money collected does not affect Ms. Carroll's contractual relationship with and obligation to Citibank.

R Vol. 1, p. 189. The District Court's reasoning is sound, rooted in the undisputed evidence and should be affirmed.

Further, the District Court's Order is consistent with the position of the Office of Comptroller of Currency ("OCC") - - the agency specifically empowered by Congress to regulate national banks, like Citibank - - on this issue. As the agency "charged with supervision of the National Bank Act," the OCC's regulations have the force of federal law. See Nations Bank of N.C., N.A. v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co., 513 U.S. 251, 256 (1995); see also 12 U.S.C. § 93a (broad grant of rulemaking power to OCC); Smiley v. Citibank (S.D.), N.A., 11 Cal. 4th 138, 156 (1995), aff'd, 517 U.S. 735 (1996).

Importantly, the OCC has determined that the powers conferred under the National Bank Act include the "broad authority to buy and sell loan assets" and "broad authority to borrow

It is undisputed that the OCC is tasked with the exclusive authority to regulate the national banking system. See 12 U.S.C. § 93a; Watters v. Wachovia Bank, N.A., 127 S. Ct. 1559, 1564 (2007) ("As the agency charged by Congress with supervision of the NBA, OCC oversees the operations of national banks and their interactions with customers."). The OCC "exercises visitorial powers, including the authority to audit the bank's books and records, largely to the exclusion of other governmental entities, state or federal." Watters, 127 S. Ct. at 1564. State-court litigation that would "prevent or significantly interfere with the national bank's exercise of its powers" is preempted by the United States Constitution's Supremacy Clause, Article VI, cl. 2. Barnett Bank, N.A. v. Nelson, 517 U.S. 25, 33 (1996); accord Marquette Nat'l Bank v. First of Omaha Serv. Corp., 439 U.S. 299, 314-15 (1978); Watters, 127 S. Ct. at 1566-67 ("In the years since the NBA's enactment, we have repeatedly made clear that federal control shields national banking from unduly burdensome and duplicative state regulation.").

The OCC also is the appropriate regulator with respect to the debt collection programs and activities of national banks. See OCC Interpretive Letter, 1985 WL 151323 (Aug. 27, 1985) ("[I]t is both usual and necessary for banks to undertake collection activities with respect to their own delinquent loans."); see also NationsBank of N.C., 513 U.S. at 258 n.2 (defining the "business of banking" and national banks' "incidental powers" broadly); Burgos v. Citibank, N.A., 432 F.3d 46, 49 (1st Cir. 2005) (collection activity engaged in by a national bank "is simply 'part and parcel' of a customary banking activity").

money and to pledge their assets as collateral for such borrowings" (OCC Interpretive Letter No. 540, 1991 WL 570780 at \*2 (June 1991) (citations omitted)), and "[e]stablishing credit card accounts and generating accounts receivable evidencing extensions of credit." OCC Corporate Decision No. 98-39, 1998 WL 667884, at \*4 (Mar. 27, 1998) (approving securitization of credit card receivables by Citibank, N.A. through subsidiary). Specifically, the OCC authorizes the securitization of credit card receivables by permitting national banks to sell credit card receivables and use them as collateral for an investment security:

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